APR 2 6 2017

ELIZABOTH A. BROWN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

BY

DEPUTY CLERK

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TON	Y HOBSON )	SUPREME COURT NO. 7141	
-	Appellant,		à
vs.	) )	APPEAL	
STA	E OF NEVADA, )		
	Respondent. )	DISTRICT COURT NO.	C-303022
	)		•

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

SANDRA L. STEWART Attorney at Law Nevada Bar No.: 6834 140 Rancho Maria Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 363-4656

APR 2 6 2017

ELIZABETH A. BROWN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
DEPUTY CLERK

17-13887

##

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

#### A. BASIS FOR APPELLATE JURISDICTION

NRAP 4(b); NRS 177.015(3)

#### B. FILING DATES ESTABLISHING TIMELINESS OF APPEAL

09-20-16: Judgment of Conviction filed<sup>2</sup>

09-27-16: Notice of Appeal filed<sup>3</sup>

#### C. ASSERTION OF FINAL ORDER OR JUDGMENT

This appeal is from the judgment of conviction filed on September 20, 2016, the amended judgment of conviction filed on January 9, 2017,<sup>4</sup> and all other appealable orders and findings in this case.

II

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict that involves convictions for offenses that are Category A and B felonies. As such, this case is not within those categories presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b).

Hereafter HA shall refer to Hobson Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> HA/20/4750.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> HA/20/4768.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> HA/20/4792

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- ISSUE NO. 1: Whether HOBSON's 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> amendment rights to a fair trial and his statutory rights pursuant to NRS 172.241 were violated where neither he nor his attorney were given adequate notice of the state's intention to seek a grand jury indictment on Counts 33-36
- ISSUE NO. 2: Whether HOBSON's 6th and 14<sup>th</sup> amendment rights to a venire selected from a fair cross section of the community was violated where only two jurors out of the entire venire of 65 jurors were African-American and testimony by the jury commissioner cast doubt on whether the jury selection process in Clark County is designed to select jurors from a fair cross section of the community.
- ISSUE NO. 3: Whether HOBSON's 5<sup>th</sup>, 6<sup>th</sup>, and 14<sup>th</sup> amendment rights to present witnesses to establish his defense were violated where a co-defendant refused to talk to the defense pre-trial because he was afraid the state would withdraw a plea deal which was contingent on him cooperating with the district attorney's office, and which specifically precluded him from talking to HOBSON.
- ISSUE NO. 4: Whether HOBSON's 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> amendment rights to due process and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his kidnaping-related convictions where the convictions were not supported by the evidence because the movement of the victims was incidental to the robberies.
- ISSUE NO. 5: Whether HOBSON's 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> amendment rights to due process and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of the robbery convictions which were not supported by the evidence because the victims had no possessory interest in the items taken or attempted to be taken.
- ISSUE NO. 6: Whether HOBSON's 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> amendment rights to due process and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of the robbery-related convictions in Counts 81 and 82 which were not supported by the evidence because there was no evidence of an agreement to rob the Taco Bell, and no performance by Hobson of any act toward the commission of the crime.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a case involving 82 counts charged against two defendants (Hobson and Starr) arising out of a series of robberies labeled by the police as the Windbreaker Series<sup>5</sup> which occurred at 14 different fast-food locations between October 28, 2014 and November 25, 2014,<sup>6</sup> and involving 37 purported victims.

#### B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Please see the Appendix table of contents which is sorted chronologically.

#### C. <u>DISPOSITION BY THE COURT BELOW</u>

Given the number of counts and the confusion in keeping track of which count corresponds to which location, victim, charge, verdict, and sentence, counsel prepared a chart which sets forth these basic facts which are not in dispute. That chart is attached as an addendum to this Opening Brief and is offered for the convenience of the court and opposing counsel. It more clearly illustrates the disposition by the court below as to each count, and HOBSON therefore refers the Court to that addendum rather than trying to set forth the disposition in the body of this brief as to all of those 82 counts. HOBSON would add here what is not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> HA/14/3212.

See Addendum (Hobson Event Chart) attached to this Opening Brief.

included on the chart and that is that all counts relating to a particular incident were run concurrent as to that incident. Each of the 14 incidents was run consecutive to each other.<sup>7</sup> The total sentence given to HOBSON was 37-152 years.

V

#### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

There were a series of robberies of mostly fast-food restaurants that began occurring in October, 2014 in the Las Vegas Valley. These were identified by Metro out of other robberies and burglaries occurring in the valley as the Windbreaker Series based on a common modus operandi. The commonalities were determined from reviewing scene videos of the robberies and witness statements. Some of the commonalities included the height of the perpetrators with one significantly taller than the other, identifying the manager and asking for money out of the safe, using a blue bag to put the money in, and wearing surgical masks. One (the shorter one alleged to be HOBSON) wore grey Reebok shoes, Snap-On gloves that were red with white lettering, and a black and gray

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> HA/20/4734.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> HA/14/3212.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> HA/15/3431.

HA/15/3431.

HA/15/3384.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> HA/15/3431.

HA/16/3711.

HA/16/3729.

windbreaker with a plaid lining.<sup>15</sup> The taller one (alleged to be STARR) always wore black boots.<sup>16</sup> There was also a silver Dodge Charger that was observed on a couple of the scene videos.<sup>17</sup>

On November 25, 2014, a metro officer went out patrolling the area where the robberies had been occurring, hoping to see the silver Charger. He did spot one, and followed it to a parking lot near a Taco Bell. He sat and watched for half an hour, during which time he alerted other patrol officers to stand by. After about a half hour an African American man exited the right rear passenger seat wearing a surgical mask on his face and a black windbreaker. He went to the trunk of the car which had been opened by the driver of the car. At that point, the officer called in the other metro officers who were on standby, and arrests were made. The man who got out of the car was Brandon Starr. The man in the right front passenger seat who had not yet exited the vehicle was Tony Hobson. The man who was driving the car was Donte Johns, Hobson's brother.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> HA/14/3215.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> HA/15/3431.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> HA/14/3215, 14/3282, 14/3302, 14/3332.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> HA/14/3219-3220.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> HA/14/3224.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> HA/16/3706.

HA/14/3307.

HA/16/3706.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> HA/14/3231.

HA/16/3695.

HOBSON was wearing grey Reeboks at the time of the arrest<sup>25</sup> which matched back to shoe prints taken from the Pizza Hut robbery (Count 11).<sup>26</sup> Starr was wearing boots the night of the arrest<sup>27</sup> which were possible matches to shoe prints taken at both the Pizza Hut location (Count 11) and the El Pollo Loco location (Count 52).<sup>28</sup> Other items indicated in the Windbreaker Series were recovered the night of the arrest, including, (1) blue bag,<sup>29</sup> (2) black and gray windbreaker,<sup>30</sup> (3) black windbreaker,<sup>31</sup> (4) medical masks,<sup>32</sup> (5) red Snap-On brand glove with white lettering,<sup>33</sup> (6) a hand gun,<sup>34</sup> and an (7) ax with an orange handle,<sup>35</sup>

Donte Johns entered into a plea deal with the state after the second superseding indictment was filed.<sup>36</sup> All the convictions in the plea deal are probationable,<sup>37</sup> and Johns was released from jail immediately to house arrest

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> HA/15/3402; 16/3712.

HA/14/3186; 15/3475, 15/3481.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> HA/15/3393, 15/3397; 16/3713;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> HA/15/3470, 15/3477, 15/3483.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> HA/15/3401, 15/3405-3406, 15/3417, 15/3418.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> HA/14/3215.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> HA/14/3224.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> HA/14/3224, 14/3234; 15/3557.

HA/15/3557, 15/3562.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> HA/14/3234, 14/3317.

HA/14/3232, 14/3317.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> HA/16/3844.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> HA/16/3851.

without posting bail.<sup>38</sup> Part of the agreement was that Johns would cooperate with the district attorney<sup>39</sup> and also that he would testify at trial.<sup>40</sup> Failure to abide by the agreement would result in the plea being withdrawn.<sup>41</sup>

#### VI

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The main distinction between the Windbreaker Series of robberies and other similar crimes being committed in the valley during the time in question, was that the Windbreaker Series were robberies which occurred at closing when it was known that employees would be present as opposed to burglaries which were taking place later at night when no employees were present. The very nature of this modus operandi was that in the Windbreaker Series, the perpetrators wanted to enter when the manager who could open the safe would be present. As such, they would round up all the employees, identify the manager and separate that person from the other employees who would be held by the second perpetrator within feet of where the safe was located.<sup>42</sup> Therefore, it is the argument of the defense, that the only victims of the robberies were the managers who had a possessory interest in the contents of the safe, and some limited victims who had personal items stolen

HA/17/3877.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> HA/16/3852.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> HA/16/3847-3848.

HA/16/3849.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> HA/15/3382, 3428, 3430, 3435-3439.

such as cell phones. It is also the contention of the defense that the very modus operandi of the Windbreaker Series in rounding up all employees to identify the manager, negates all of the kidnaping-related convictions since all movement and restraint of the victims was incident to the robberies.

Additionally, as to the attempt and conspiracy charges in Counts 81 and 82, the defense contends that those are not supported by the evidence given that Hobson had not exited the vehicle and Donte Johns testified that he didn't know why Starr had asked him to pop the trunk. Therefore, there was insufficient evidence of performance of some act toward commission of a crime to support the conviction for attempt, and no evidence of an agreement to commit a crime at the time that Starr exited the vehicle to support the conviction for conspiracy.

It also appears that HOBSON's Constitutional and statutory rights were violated because (1) his attorneys were not given adequate notice of the grand jury hearing as to Counts 33-36, (2) the jury venire did not represent a fair cross section of the community, and (3) the state interfered with HOBSON's ability to conduct pre-trial interrogation of the key witness against him – Donte Johns.

43

HA/16/3706.

#### VII

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. NO NOTICE OF GRAND JURY INDICTMENT (COUNTS 33-36)

(Standard of Review: de novo)44

The grand jury heard testimony on all counts except 33-36 (Burger King) concluding on February 19, 2015. At the end of the hearing, the state advised that, "...we were unable to get one additional witness in so we're not going to have you deliberate on this case right now. We'll come back in a few weeks when we can get an additional period of time." However, the very same day, the grand jury foreperson endorsed a true bill, also signed by the deputy district attorney, which included Counts 33-36. Two months later on April 17, 2015, the state revealed in a footnote to the state's return to a habeas writ that the grand jury had not yet deliberated on those counts. It further stated in that footnote that it intended to present Counts 33-36 to the grand jury at some time in the future. As

The construction or interpretation of a statute is reviewed de novo. *United States v. Leon H.*, 365 F.3d 750, 752 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> HA/2/456.

HA/3/642.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> HA/4/743.

HA/4/849.

The grand jury was reconvened on April 23, 2015, as to Counts 33-36,<sup>49</sup> and a witness was sworn and testified.<sup>50</sup> The defense was not provided notice of that second grand jury hearing.<sup>51</sup> The defense brought a habeas petition and requested that the court dismiss those counts for failure to provide notice of that grand jury hearing.<sup>52</sup>

The court denied that motion stating that notice given for the other counts under the first superseding indictment was continuing or "ongoing notice throughout the proceedings." The Court stated that it felt "that the argument kind of falls because the other information is contained in this original notice." Presumably, the original notice is the charges on Counts 33-36 which were erroneously included in the first superseding indictment.

In *Marcum*, this Court held that a defendant has a right to testify in front of a grand jury before he is indicted, and he therefore has a right to notice of the grand jury hearing where an indictment will be sought, a reasonable time before the hearing is to take place. This Court found that a one-day notice was unreasonable.<sup>54</sup> In response to *Marcum*, the Legislature amended NRS 172.241 to include a five-day notice provision of the State's intent to seek an indictment,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> HA/4/896.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> HA/4/903.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> HA/5/1118.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> HA/5/1065.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> HA/5/1120.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Sheriff, Humboldt County v. Marcum, 105 Nev. 824, 826-827 (1989).

requiring the defense to submit a written request for the date, time, and place. To be exact, NRS 172.241 now provides that notice is adequate if (1) the notice gives the defendant not less than five **judicial** days to submit a request to testify, and (2) **advises the person** that the person may testify before the grand jury only if the person submits a written request to the district attorney and includes an address where the district attorney may send notice of the date, time and place of the scheduled proceeding of the grand jury.

#### **Five Day Notice Not Provided**

In this case, the state claimed that it gave notice of its intent to convene the grand jury on Counts 33-36 in the footnote which appeared in the state's return on April 17, 2015. However, April 17, 2015 fell on a Friday, and the grand jury hearing was scheduled for April 23, 2015. The 17<sup>th</sup> was only four **judicial** days before that hearing, which did not give the defense five days to let the district attorney know that it wanted to testify.

#### Required Advice Not Provided

The so-called notice was included in a footnote to the state's return. It did not advise HOBSON that he could testify before the grand jury only if he submitted a written request to the district attorney. It did not indicate that in that

McNamara v. State, 377 P.3d 106, 115-116 (Nev.Aug. 12, 2016). See Hearing on S.B. 82 Before the Assembly Judiciary Comm., 66th Leg. (Nev., May 30, 1991); see also 1997 Nev. Stat., ch. 99, § 1, at 188.

HA/5/1116.

notice of the date, time, and place of the grand jury proceeding. The footnote merely stated:

The State would note that Counts 33 through 36 were inadvertently placed in the Superseding Indictment. The Grand Jury has not yet deliberated on these specific counts. A final grand jury presentment is forthcoming in which these counts will be deliberated upon and, pending a finding of probable cause by the Grand Jury, properly appended to the Second Superseding Indictment.<sup>57</sup>

For the foregoing reasons, HOBSON did not receive adequate notice of the state's intent to hold proceedings before the grand jury on April 23, 2015 on Counts 33-36, and the court erred in refusing to grant HOBSON's habeas petition to dismiss those counts on that ground. That constituted a violation of HOBSON's Constitutional rights to due process of law as well as his statutory rights codified by the State of Nevada in NRS 172.241, and this Court should remand with instructions that those counts be dismissed.

....
....
57 HA/4/849.

#### B. <u>JURY VENIRE NOT REPRESENTATIVE</u>

(Standard of Review: de novo)<sup>58</sup>

Both Starr and HOBSON are African Americans. Yet, only two jurors out of the entire venire of 65 jurors were African-American. Accordingly, the defense brought a motion to strike the venire. 60

The trial court characterized the issue as a *Batson* issue<sup>61</sup> and denied the motion to strike the venire pursuant to *McCarty*<sup>62</sup> because the defense did not make out a prima facie case of discrimination.<sup>63</sup> However, *McCarty* dealt with a *Batson* issue involving improper peremptory challenges, so the Court's reliance on that case was misplaced. The defense pointed out that this was a challenge to the venire which was controlled by the *Williams* case.<sup>64</sup> The record does not indicate that the Court even considered that case.

#### Disparity was 70

In Williams, the court went through a mathematical comparison of percentage of jury which was African American to percentage of African

United States v. Bushyhead, 270 F.3d 905, 909 (9th Cir. 2001); United States v. Bishop, 959 F.2d 820, 827 (9th Cir. 1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> HA/7/1608.

<sup>60</sup> HA/7/1609.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> HA/7/1623.

Jason Duval McCarty v. State of Nevada, 371 P.3d 1002 (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> HA/7/1623-1624.

Williams v. State, 121 Nev. 934, 942 (Nev. 2005).

Americans in the community and held that a comparative disparity over 50 indicates that the representation of African Americans is likely not fair and reasonable.<sup>65</sup> The exact calculations and wording of this formulation is as follows:

The 2000 census indicates that the percentage of African Americans in Clark County, Nevada, is 9.1. U.S. .... Having one African American in a forty-person venire results in only 2.5 African Americans. Whether a certain percentage is a fair representation of a group is measured by the absolute and comparative disparity between the actual percentage in the venire and the percentage of the group in the community. The absolute disparity is 6.6. This is not a large percentage. But if 6.6 is compared with the actual percentage of African Americans in Clark County, 9.1, the comparative disparity is 72.5. Comparative disparities over 50 indicate that the representation of African Americans is likely not fair and reasonable. See Evans, 112 Nev. at 1187, 926 P.2d at 275.66

The defense in the case at bar presented evidence that statistics for Clark

County demographics for 2015 show that 10 percent of the population of Clark

County are African Americans.<sup>67</sup>

Using the formulation set forth in *Williams*, the comparative disparity in this case was 70.<sup>68</sup> Therefore, pursuant to the rule of *Williams*, the representation of African Americans in the venire in this case was not fair and reasonable.

Accordingly, it was error for the court to refuse to strike the venire and empanel a new one.

Williams, supra, at 940.

Williams, supra, at 940.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> HA/7/1609.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> 2/65=3%; 10-3=7 (absolute disparity); 7/10=70 (comparative disparity).

#### Jury Selection Lists Are Not Adequate

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