IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TONY HOBSON,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Aug 24 2017 08:48 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 71419

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

SANDRA L. STEWART, ESQ. Nevada Bar #006834 140 Rancho Maria Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 363-4656 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Hobson challenges the notice he received of his indictment, the jury list compilation methods of Clark County, the State's plea agreement with a codefendant, and the sufficiency of the evidence in several of his numerous convictions.

In order to indict Hobson on all 82 of the Counts on which he was indicted the State presented to the Grand Jury on four different occasions, bringing in numerous witnesses and instructing the Grand Jury to limit its deliberation to the Counts presented each time. 4 AA 839. Throughout this process, Hobson was aware of the Grand Jury meetings and the charges contained in the indictment. 5 AA 1113-1120, 1135-1136. While he claims that he was not timely informed of the Grand Jury's fourth meeting, at which it returned a true bill on the indictment of counts 33-36, he had received notice of the charges in his initial Marcum notice. AA 1113-1120, 1135-1136. He also had access to the earlier Grand Jury transcripts, which clearly indicated that the Grand Jury would re-convene to deliberate on these counts, giving him ample time to inform the District Attorney if he wished to testify. 1 AA 202.

Hobson also challenges the Clark County Jury Commissioner's method for compiling jury lists. In this case, the District Court brought the commissioner into court to testify. 4 AA 839. The court determined that the system for creating jury

18

venires was adequate and so ruled. 7 AA 1610. The same or substantially similar testimony has been given in other cases in which the District Court has also found the selection system to be adequate. <u>See e.g. Battle v. State</u>, No. 68744, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 607 (Aug. 10, 2016). Hobson fails to show that this ruling was an abuse of the court's discretion, and therefore it should not be disturbed on appeal.

Next, Hobson argues that the State interfered with witnesses by entering into a Guilty Plea Agreement with another co-conspirator. The State did nothing to dissuade the co-conspirator from speaking with Hobson's counsel prior to trial and, therefore, he cannot make out a cognizable claim.

Hobson also challenges the sufficiency of the evidence of the kidnapping convictions, pursuant to <u>Mendoza v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 267, 130 P.3d 176 (2006). However, Hobson systematically engaged in kidnappings along with the robberies by preventing employees from exiting the restaurants he was robbing, thereby increasing their risk of harm and prolonging the time before they could seek help.

Hobson challenges the sufficiency of the evidence of numerous robbery convictions because he avers only the store managers had sufficient possessory interest in the property taken to be victims of a robbery under <u>Phillips v. State</u>, 99 Nev. 693, 669 P.2d 706 (1983). However, in <u>Klein v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 880, 784 P.2d 970 (1989) this Court found that employees shared possessory interest in company property and therefore the convictions for the other employees should be upheld.

Finally, Hobson challenges the sufficiency of the evidence in the conspiracy and attempt robbery convictions arising from the final event in the series. Here, Metro arrested Hobson before he and co-conspirators could perpetuate a robbery on a Taco Bell and the jury made a reasonable determination of fact to find he had committed conspiracy and attempt robbery. 16 AA 3777, 13 AA 3090, 13 AA 3224, 16 AA 3840.

ARGUMENT

I.

HOBSON RECEIVED ADEQUATE NOTICE OF THE GRAND JURY INDICTMENT ON COUNTS 33-36.

Hobson claims he did not receive sufficient notice of the fourth convention of the grand jury because the April 17, 2015 Return to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, in which the State indicated its intention to indict the remaining charges in a footnote, was served only four judicial days before the Grand Jury re-convened on April 23rd. AOB at 9, 4 AA 839. However, the footnote in the Return was not Hobson's first or only notice of the Grand Jury hearing. It was included in the original Marcum notice and in the transcripts from the previous Grand Jury hearings. 5 AA 1135-1136. The original Marcum notice included LVMPD event number 141117-0096, which corresponds to the Burger King robbery on November 11, 2014 from which the charges arise. 5 AA 1135-1136, 5 AA 1047. Further, Hobson had access to the transcripts from the Grand Jury Proceedings on the Superseding Indictment, which clearly indicated that additional Grand Jury time would be necessary to deliberate on the remaining counts. 1 AA 202, 2 AA 456.

At the end of the Grand Jury hearing on January 22, 2015, Chief Deputy District Attorney Liz Mercer told the Grand jury "we were unable to get one additional witness in so we're not going to have you deliberate on [the November 14, 2014 Burger King] case right now. We'll come back in a few weeks when we can get an additional period of time." 2 AA 375. And the transcript concludes with "(Proceedings adjourned, to reconvene at a later, undetermined time.)" 2 AA 375. These transcripts were available by March 4, 2015, giving Hobson plenty of time to review them before the Grand Jury convened on April 23rd. 1 AA 202.

At the beginning of the February 19, 2015 convention of the Grand Jury Chief Deputy District Attorney Liz Mercer stated "as to Counts 33, 34 and 35, and 36, we're going to ask you to withhold deliberations on those counts, don't deliberate on them today because we have been unable to obtain that witness's presence." 2 AA 461. Hobson had access to these transcripts at least as early as they were electronically filed on March 4, 2015, far in advance of the April 23rd convention of the Grand Jury. 2 AA 465. The purpose of Marcum Notice is to alert the accused to the indictment and provide the accused the opportunity to testify before the Grand Jury. <u>Sheriff, Humboldt Cty. v. Marcum</u>, 105 Nev. 824, 783 P.2d 1389 (1989). Hobson had ample time to inform the District Attorney if he wished to testify at the Grand Jury hearing on the remaining counts, fulfilling the State's notice requirement. As such, he is not entitled to relief on this claim.

II. THE JURY VENIRE ADEQUATELY REPRESENTED THE COMMUNITY.

Before jury selection began on May 2, 2016, Hobson and his co-defendant moved to strike the jury venire for a lack of racial diversity. 7 AA 1610. At trial, the Court found that Jason Duval McCarty v. State of Nevada, 371 P.3d 1002 (2016) requires the moving party to make out a prima facie case of discrimination, which Hobson failed to do. 7 AA 1623-1624. Specifically, prima facie discrimination requires that the discrimination be systematic, in other words, racially motivated. 7 AA 1624. On appeal, Hobson argues that McCarty was misapplied and the Court, instead, should have followed the ruling of Williams v. State, 121 Nev. 934 (2005). OAB at 13. He also, inexplicably, objected to the Court's characterization of his challenge as a Batson issue. AOB at 13, 7 AA 1626. Williams relies on Batson to analyze the permissibility of striking a jury venire, stating "we now determine that *Batson* does apply to challenges resulting in the dismissal of the venire." Williams v. State, 121 Nev. 934, 944, 125 P.3d 627, 634 (2005) Yet, Hobson eschews the application of Batson in his own case.

22

The Court properly applied <u>Batson</u> to determine "[the defendant] need[s] to make a prima facie case of discrimination...and I haven't seen that you've done that." 7 AA 1624.

Hobson uses <u>Williams</u> for two different propositions. First, he cites to <u>Williams</u>' formula for calculating disparity between community and jury makeup. AOB at 13-14. Second, he relies on <u>Williams</u> to argue that the jury venire should have been compiled from three sources. AOB at 15-17. The latter argument was made at trial and, therefore, properly preserved. 7 AA 1626. The former is presented for the first time on appeal. <u>Id</u>.

The Court did not err in not calculating a "disparity factor."

On appeal, Hobson applies a mathematical equation borrowed from the Idaho Court of Appeals that indicates the "comparative disparity" of the jury venire was 70 percent, and argues that this number is too large because it is greater than 50 percent. AOB at 13-14. This number, essentially, says that the difference between the proportion of African American venire members and the proportion of the Clark County population that is African American, is equal to 70% of the size of the Clark County population that is African American.⁵ Evans v. Nev., 112 Nev. 1172, 1187,

⁵ The percentage is arrived at by taking the percentage of the venire that was African American (3%) and subtracting that number from the percentage of the Clark County population that is African American (10%), to arrive at the raw number 7. That number is then divided by the percentage of the population of Clark County that is African American, to arrive at 7/10 or 70%.

926 P.2d 265, 275 (1996) (citing <u>State v. Lopez</u>, 107 Idaho 726, 692 P.2d 370, 377 (Idaho Ct. App. 1984)). However, the disparity calculation does not have a strict 50 percent cut-off. <u>Evans v. Nev.</u>, 112 Nev. 1172, 926 P.2d 265 (1996). To the contrary, the Idaho Court of Appeals suggested that "a comparative disparity well below 50% is unlikely to be sufficient [to show underrepresentation]" <u>Evans v. Nev.</u>, 112 Nev. 1172, 1187, 926 P.2d 265, 275 (1996). This Court, and any other District Court in Nevada, is not required to utilize this particular calculation in order to determine how closely the jury venire represents the makeup of the community population.

In <u>Williams</u> the court applied the three prong test set forth in <u>Duren v.</u> <u>Missouri</u>

"(1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a 'distinctive' group in the community; (2) that the representation of this group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to the number of such persons in the community; and (3) that this underrepresentation is due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-selection process.

Williams v. State, 121 Nev. 934, 940, 125 P.3d 627, 631 (2005)

The court applied the <u>Lopez</u> disparity factor to determine that the venire met the second prong. The Court's use in <u>Williams</u> of the test presented in <u>Lopez</u> merely represents the employment of an analytical tool, not the establishment of a binding rule. Importantly, the court also concluded that the Williams did *not* meet the third prong. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 934, 940, 125 P.3d 627, 631 (2005). Therefore the court ruled "Williams has not suffered a violation of his Sixth Amendment rights because the first venire did not violate his right to a venire composed of a fair cross section of the community." <u>Williams v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 934, 942, 125 P.3d 627, 632-33 (2005). Hobson, likewise, fails this test and therefore cannot make out a cognizable claim. Whether the jury venire representation was "fair and reasonable" is of no import where an appellant cannot make out a case of systematic discrimination. Hobson fails even to attempt, let alone show, that the jury venire was created through systematic discrimination.

The Jury Selection Lists Are Adequate

Hobson reiterates his trial argument on appeal that Clark County's jury selection lists are inadequate. Essentially, he argues that because the current method of compiling jury lists is "producing juries that do not comprise a fair cross section of the community," the Jury Commissioner is in violation of <u>Williams</u>. Jury Commissioner Mariah Witt was brought in to testify to the method of compiling the lists and the District Court did not abuse its discretion by finding that Hobson failed to meet his burden to sustain the objection. 7 AA 1611-1622. Again, because Hobson does not meet all three prongs of the <u>Duren</u> test, he fails to establish a violation of <u>Williams</u>. See <u>supra</u>.

Moreover, Clark County's jury selection system has been upheld on appeal by the Nevada Supreme Court before. <u>See e.g. Battle v. State</u>, No. 68744, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 607 (Aug. 10, 2016). Nothing in the County's method for pulling potential jurors from the lists compiled by the Department of Motor Vehicles and Nevada Energy encourages, or allows, the jury commissioner to systematically exclude potential jurors on the basis of race. Therefore, Hobson's argument is without merit.

III. THE STATE DID NOT INTERFERE WITH WITNESSES

Hobson argues that the State violated his Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights, in essence, by entering into a plea agreement with Hobson's brother and coconspirator Donte Johns. AOB at 18-20. Johns declined a request from Hobson's attorney to meet pre-trial, which was Johns' right to refuse. For reasons unknown, all of Hobson's legal authority on this issue come from the U.S. 5th Circuit Court of Appeals. The use of plea bargaining to secure testimony, however, has deep historical roots in the United States. <u>See</u> Agreements for Cooperation in Criminal Cases., 45 Vand. L. Rev. 1. <u>See also</u>, e.g. <u>United States v. Booker</u>, 543 U.S. 220, 125 S. Ct. 738 (2005), <u>Santobello v. New York</u>, 404 U.S. 257, 92 S. Ct. 495 (1971), <u>Hoffa v. United States</u>, 385 U.S. 293, 87 S. Ct. 408 (1966), <u>Bram v. United States</u>, 168 U.S. 532, 18 S. Ct. 183 (1897), <u>Whiskey Cases</u>, 99 U.S. 594 (1878).

This court has held "bargaining for specific trial testimony, i.e., testimony that is essentially consistent with the information represented to be factually true during negotiations with the State, and withholding the benefits of the bargain until after the witness has testified, is not inconsistent with the search for truth or due process." <u>Sheriff, Humboldt Cty. v. Acuna</u>, 107 Nev. 664, 669, 819 P.2d 197, 198 (1991) And, has further opined that this conclusion is "the rule generally prevailing in both state and federal courts." <u>Id</u> at 669.

Hobson's argument that Johns declined the meeting because of the actions of the State is completely unfounded. It was well-established at trial that Johns' attorney, Kyle Cottner, advised Johns not to meet with counsel for the defense prior to trial. See e.g. 17 AA 3907-3910. Cottner was candid in expressing that he gave his client this advice because he had already entered into a plea agreement in which he agreed to testify for the State. At no point did Cottner, the State, or Johns suggest that the State ever directly or indirectly prevented Johns from speaking with the defense attorneys. Hobson conflates Johns' attorney's advice with action on the part of the State. Here, the State did not instruct nor did it encourage Johns not to speak with the Defense, it merely entered into a plea negotiation with Johns. That Johns' attorney determined it was not in his best interest to speak with the Defense and so instructed him, does nothing to show that the State engaged in any misconduct. As Hobson is unable to make any showing of misconduct or other State action influencing Johns' decision not to speak with Hobson's counsel prior to trial, the Court's decision should be affirmed.

///

IV.

THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN HOBSON'S KIDNAPPING CONVICTIONS.

When reviewing a sufficiency of the evidence claim, the relevant inquiry is *not* whether the court is convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Wilkins v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 367, 374, 609 P.2d 309, 313 (1980). Rather, when the jury has already found the defendant guilty, the limited inquiry is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Milton v. State</u>, 111 Nev. 1487, 1491, 908 P.2d 684, 686-87 (1995).

Thus, the evidence is only insufficient when "the prosecution has not produced a minimum threshold of evidence upon which a conviction may be based, even if such evidence were believed by the jury." <u>Evans v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 1172, 1193, 926 P.2d 265, 279 (1996) (emphasis removed).

Convictions for contemporaneous robberies and kidnappings present special sufficiency questions, governed by the law as set forth in <u>Mendoza v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 267, 130 P.3d 176 (2006).

[T]o sustain convictions for both robbery and kidnapping arising from the same course of conduct, any movement or restraint must stand alone with independent significance from the act of robbery itself, create a risk of danger to the victim substantially exceeding that necessarily present in the crime of robbery, or involve movement, seizure or restraint substantially in excess of that necessary to its completion.

<u>Id</u> at 275.

And, the jury was so instructed:

In order for you to find the defendant guilty of both first-degree kidnapping (or second-degree kidnapping) and an associated offense of robbery, you must also find beyond a reasonable doubt either:

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